IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GULF COAST ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC. Petitioner/Appellant

VS.

SUSAN F. CLARK, as Chairman FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, and GULF POWER COMPANY

Respondents/Appellees

Case No.: 85,464

FILED SID J. WHITE OCT 2 1905

E 20URT CLERK BY Chief Deputy Clerk

INITIAL BRIEF OF GULF COAST ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.

> John H. Haswell, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 162536 Chandler, Lang & Haswell, P.A. Post Office Box 23879 Gainesville, Florida 32602 (904) 376-5226

J. Patrick Floyd, Esquire 408 Long Avenue Port St. Joe, Florida 32456 (904) 227-7413

Attorneys for Gulf Coast Electric Cooperative, Inc.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

(a) <u>Nature of Case</u>: This is another territorial dispute between Gulf Coast Electric Cooperative, Inc. ("Gulf Coast") and Gulf Power Corporation ("GPC") over service by Gulf Coast to a correctional facility located in South Washington County.

(b) <u>Course of Proceedings and Jurisdiction</u>: The dispute was heard by the Florida Public Service Commission ("Commission") pursuant to its jurisdictional grant in Section 366.04(2)(e), Florida Statutes. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 3(b)(2) of Article V, of the Florida Constitution and Section 366.10, Florida Statutes (1993). The Commission rendered its order (R-311) on March 1, 1995, resolving the dispute and directing the parties to negotiate in good faith to develop a territorial agreement and establish boundaries. GPC took exception to the Order (R-327). Gulf Coast appealed the Order (R-333), the Commission entered a clarifying and amendatory Order on July 27, 1995 (R-358); and GPC filed a Notice of Cross Appeal on September 14, 1995 (R-364).

(c) <u>Disposition in Lower Tribunal</u>: The Commission awarded service to the site of the correctional facility to GPC, directed the parties to report to the Commission on all parallel lines, crossings, and areas of potential dispute in South Washington and Bay Counties, ordered the parties to negotiate a territorial boundary in South Washington and Bay Counties, and ordered GPC to reimburse Gulf Coast \$36,996.74 for its costs in relocating its existing facilities on Red Sapp Road.

(d) <u>Statement of Facts</u>: By 1950, Gulf Coast was serving electric customers ("Members") in South Washington County, at, and near the intersection of County Road 279 and State Road 77 which is now adjacent to the site of the new Washington County

Correctional Institute, and part of the disputed area. See (E-15) No one else was there. (T-291/7-13; T-299/10; T-300/9) GPC claims to have commenced service to Washington County in 1926 (T-68/15), although its witness, Weintritt could say why GPC was not serving all customers in Washington County. (T-91/16). In 1971, Gulf Coast had distribution facilities on and adjacent to the area of the correctional facility site, when Deltona Corporation began its development of Sunny Hills. (T-300/19-24) For whatever reason, Deltona requested service from GPC, even though GPC had no distribution service in the area, but Gulf Coast did have service along Highway 77 adjacent to the Sunny Hills site and going on up to Wausau (E-9). Over Gulf Coast's objection and prior to the time that the Commission had jurisdiction over territorial disputes involving cooperatives and investor owned utilities, GPC built a new three-phase line from Vernon, down 279 and up 77, crossing the Cooperative's lines at least eighteen (18) times (E-9). The Circuit Court in the ensuing litigation denied Gulf Coast's petition for injunctive relief and allowed the customer, Deltona, to choose the utility provider. (T-301/1-17). Soon after GPC built the new line which intruded in and across the Cooperative's facilities and service area for over ten miles (E-8 and 9), GPC installed a substation at Sunny Hills at a rated capacity of 24,640 kV, (T-301/19-22) even though the Cooperative's Crystal Lake Substation was only 5.5 miles south of the intersection of 279 and 77. GPC succeeded in duplicating the existing Cooperative facilities at a cost that now is at least \$3,314,000.00 within a five (5) mile radius and \$3,146,000.00 for just Sunny Hills, (T-106/6-7, T-110/17) as compared with the Cooperative's total investment in the area of \$1,233,475.00. (Exhibit 40, Items 16a & 16c)

Later, in the same general area, in 1984, GPC built new facilities in an attempt to

serve Leisure Lakes, an area shown on Exhibit 14 (HN-4). This time the Commission had jurisdiction to stop the intrusion by GPC into an area already served by Gulf Coast, and the Commission prohibited GPC from serving Leisure Lakes, or along the route by which those facilities would be connected to GPC's transmission system, which was the connection to GPC's three-phase line at the intersection of State Road 77 and County Road 279 (T-357, 400). As admitted by Mr. Weintritt for GPC, its line on 77 down south of the intersection of 279 and 77 still exists, but is not energized (T-159). GPC appealed the Commission's order that granted Gulf Coast the right to serve Leisure Lakes, and that order was affirmed by this Court in <u>Gulf Power Company v. Public Service Commission</u>, 480 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1985).

These two utilities have had numerous disputes in Washington County, and some have been brought to the Commission and some have not (T-313). In the past several years, rural economic development has been promoted, not only by the State but also by Federal policy, and indeed, GPC has participated itself in grants, loans, and other assistance in encouraging and promoting economic development in its service area (T-146; T-616, Exhibit 36).

By April of 1993, Gulf Coast became aware that the Department of Corrections was planning on locating a prison in West Florida and was considering sites in several counties, including Washington County (T-303-304; Exhibit 16). Gulf Coast has previously assisted in the location of prison sites for economic development in Gulf County and Gulf Coast's members approved a \$45,000.00 grant to Gulf County so it could acquire land for the Department of Corrections. (Norris, T-296/3-25)

All of the proceedings in Washington County were public (T-305/23), and both GPC

and Gulf Coast were aware that Washington County desired to secure a location for the prison for the benefit of the citizens of Washington County. Because of the timing and necessity to move fast on the acquisition, Gulf Coast made a public proposal to the Washington County Commission for a \$45,000.00 grant and assistance in securing a loan of \$300,000.00 to acquire the property in April, 1993. (Norris, T-304, Exhibit 16) GPC did not make any similar proposal, although GPC's employee, John Daugherty, thought GPC should do so, (T-613, 614, 619).

Even though the Gulf Coast offer was public record, and even though GPC's employee, Daugherty, claimed to be on top of the situation (T-605/5), at no time did GPC advise or warn the Department of Corrections, the Washington County Commission, or Gulf Coast that it would dispute service by Gulf Coast, until July 30, 1993, when Gulf Power representatives met with the Department of Corrections in Tallahassee (Hodges, T-634). GPC deliberately refrained from raising any objection until the grant and loan were in place, the site had been selected and secured (Hodges, T-633/9-14; T-640/19-21), and then only after Gulf Coast relocated its existing Red Sapp Road line to Highway 279 did GPC file its objection. GPC stated that it would not enter into a "bidding contest" (T-599/16) for the prison site. There is no evidence in the record that Gulf Coast, the Washington County Commission, or the Department of Corrections asked for or suggested that there would be a bidding war. GPC, at least sixty (60) days after learning that the Department of Corrections had selected Gulf Coast, sent a delegation to Tallahassee to see Mr. Kronenberger of the Department of Corrections, on July 30, 1993. (T-634, T-55). GPC witness, Hodges testified that GPC wished to let the Department of Corrections know that GPC was willing to serve the site and wanted to "earn the business". Mr. Kronenberger

stated that what GPC was telling him was the GPC had a jurisdictional right to serve the site (T-55/12).

After Gulf Coast was selected to provide the service to the site by the Washington County Commission and the Department of Corrections, Gulf Coast relocated its Red Sapp Road single phase line to County Road 279, and upgraded the facilities to three phase at a total coast of \$51,579.00 (E-40, item 12, T-440). The relocation cost was \$36,996.74 and the upgrade to three phase was \$14,582,00 (T-400, 438). The Department of Corrections requested three phase service from County Road 279. Gulf Coast had facilities on the site of the correctional facility itself, and had those facilities in place since 1950 (T-212/21, Exhibit 9). The Red Sapp Road line connected service from the Cooperative's three-phase line on State Road 77 to its 100 plus customers on County Road 279. GPC had no service, and no prior historic service, on the site of the correctional facility, although GPC claimed that its service to a traffic signal may have been on the site (T-129/11-17). In order to continue to provide service to its customers on 279 in a reliable manner, and to get out of the way of the prison, Gulf Coast had to relocate its Red Sapp line. (T-399, 410) The relocation cost to Gulf Coast would have been incurred no matter who provided service (R-317). The Red Sapp Road is a graded sand road, and Gulf Coast's facilities were located off of the graded right-of-way (T-267, T-387/24-25, T-388/6).

GPC spent \$55,503.00 in upgrades to its facilities (E-10) to provide dual feed capability and claimed its service was more reliable (T-71). GPC outage history was 2.52 hours per customer, compared to 1.66 hours for Gulf Coast (T-111/17, E-41, E-40).

Gulf Coast, in addition to the upgrade to the Red Sapp line, spent an additional \$106,093.11 in on-site improvements to comply with DOC requirements (E-10, E-14).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is as much a case of equitable issues as it is factual ones, and is not as complex as the number of exhibits and the amount of testimony might suggest. The primary issues involve the Commission's misapplication of the term "uneconomic duplication", its proper finding that the additional cost of \$14,582.54 to Gulf Coast was "relatively small", its disregard of customer preference, and its failure to consider the very equitable factors it found to be present.

We all recall the story of the little red hen, a story about fairness, equity, and justice. The hen planted grain, raised it, and used the grain to bake bread. Others stood by and while they watched the hen at work, they did nothing. When the bread was ready to eat, the others were suddenly ready to "help". In the case at bar, GPC is not satisfied with helping, it wants the whole loaf.

Gulf Coast worked with the Washington County Commission and the DOC to help locate a correctional facility in Washington County and expended funds to do so. It not only gave a grant to the County of \$45,000.00 for the initial purchase, it also helped the County obtain a \$300,000.00 loan to finance the total purchase price. The site selected by the Washington County Commission and the DOC was located at the intersection of CR 279 and SR 77 in Washington County (E-15, 17). Gulf Coast had lines on the property since 1951. Because the correctional facility would be located in the way of Gulf Coast's lines, it relocated those lines to CR 279, and upgraded its facilities to three phase to provide the service the DOC requested, at a location specified by the DOC. Gulf Coast could have just as easily provided service from its own existing three phase service on SR 77 (T-398, 400,

401). The Commission found that GPC uneconomically duplicated Gulf Coast's facilities when it built in its existing three phase line on CR 279 in 1971.

Because the Commission found that the additional cost to serve by Gulf Coast was relatively small, that GPC uneconomically duplicated Gulf Coast's facilities in 1971, that both utilities could provide adequate and reliable service, that the customer preferred service by Gulf Coast, and that GPC did nothing while Gulf Coast spent the funds and undertook the effort to get the prison located in Washington County, its decision to award the service to GPC is contrary to the evidence in the record, and the record lacks competent or substantial evidence to support the Commission's decision. Neither does the Commission's Order establish by competent and substantial evidence that the facilities constructed by Gulf Coast's facilities were necessary to provide the requested service, and the facilities built by GPC, which crossed Gulf Coast's facilities at least eighteen (18) times, should not be allowed to form the basis of any claim by GPC that Gulf Coast's reasonable and necessary extension of its own facilities is an uneconomic duplication of GPC's initial intrusion into Gulf Coast's historic service area.

ARGUMENT I

- I. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN AWARDING SERVICE TO THE CORRECTIONAL FACILITY TO GPC WHEN:
 - (a) VIRTUALLY ALL OF ITS FINDINGS FAVORED SERVICE BY GULF COAST, AND
 - (b) THE COMMISSION FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT SERVICE BY GULF COAST WAS UNECONOMIC DUPLICATION OF GPC'S FACILITIES.

A final order of an administrative agency will not be disturbed on appeal if there is

competent substantial evidence in the record as a whole to support the agency's decision.

Citizens of Florida v. Mayo, 333 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1976) The Commission has established

rules to guide it in resolving territorial disputes that require it to consider:

"(a) The capability of each utility to provide reliable electric service within the disputed area with its existing facilities and the extent to which additional facilities are needed;

(b) The nature of the disputed area including population and the type of utilities seeking to serve it, and degree of urbanization of the area and its proximity to other urban areas, and the present and reasonably foreseeable future requirements of the area for other utility services;

(c) The cost of each utility to provide distribution and subtransmission facilities to the disputed area presently and in the future; and

(d) Customer preference if all other factors are substantially equal" (Rule 25-6.0441(2), Florida Administration Code)

The Rule was promulgated pursuant to Section 366.04(2)(e), and incorporates the

statutory language. In this case the commission found that both utilities were capable of

providing adequate and reliable service (R-314), satisfying the requirement of subsection

(a) of the Rule. The nature of the disputed area was not an issue in the case, because

both parties, and the Commission agreed that it was a rural area (R-313). Hence, subsection (b) of the Rule was not an issue to be resolved in favor of either utility. This left subsection (c) and (d) of the Rule as the deciding factors, in addition to whatever else the Commission deemed appropriate to consider. Subsection (c) of the Rule relates to costs to provide service and subsection (d) relates to customer preference.

The Commission Order that GPC should serve the site is not supported by competent substantial evidence, and is indeed contradicted by its own finding that the cost differential to Gulf Coast was "relatively small" (R-316), and that the GPC facilities it used to compare costs were themselves an uneconomic duplication of Gulf Coast's facilities (R-316).

The key to the Commission's error lies in its flawed view of "uneconomic duplication" in this case. The statutory language in the Rule clearly indicate that first there must be a duplication, which by itself is not a violation of any rule. The duplication must also be <u>uneconomic</u>.

The Commission's holding that GPC should serve the site is bottomed on its finding that 'we simply cannot ignore the fact that Gulf Coast's upgrade of the relocated Red Sapp Road single phase line to three phase duplicated GPC's existing facilities'' (R-316). Note that the Commission does not say that Gulf Coast "uneconomically" duplicated GPC's facilities in the foregoing quote. The Order goes on to state:

> "We always consider whether one utility has uneconomically duplicated the facilities of the other in a "race to serve" an area in dispute, and we do not condone such action" (R-316).

In this case there is absolutely no evidence that Gulf Coast "raced to serve" the site. There simply was no race. The quoted language refers to uneconomic duplication, but fails to

state what was uneconomic about it. If we search for the Commission's rational to support the use of the term "uneconomic" we must look to the section of the Order on costs to serve (R-314). We find that the Commission determined that the cost to Gulf Coast was \$14,582.54 more than GPC, yet in the section of the Order on uneconomic duplication, the Commission finds that the \$14,582.54 is "relatively small". If we infer that the Commission meant that the \$14,582.54 is the basis for finding that the duplication was "uneconomic", then the Commission has departed from its own prior orders where similar costs differentials were disregarded as being substantially equal. In light of prior Commission orders, the cost of this upgrade constitutes a de minimis difference that should have been disregarded, or alternatively, regarded as "substantially equal".

Support for Gulf Coast's position begins with <u>Gulf Power Company v. Public Service</u> <u>Commission</u>, 480 So. 2d 97 (Fla. 1985) and in several other Commission orders that awarded service rights to the utility with dramatically lower cost differentials. The 1985 Gulf Power case represents an earlier chapter in the continuing controversy between Gulf Coast and Gulf Power that involved service to the Leisure Lakes subdivision in Washington County. <u>Id.</u> at 97. In affirming the Commission's order that granted Gulf Coast the right to serve the subdivision, this Court held that in contrast to Gulf Coast's costs of about \$27,000, Gulf Power's costs of about \$200,480 constituted a "considerable" cost differential. <u>Id.</u> at 98.

In territorial disputes before the Commission, dramatic differences in off-site cost to serve are the rule. In a territorial dispute over service to a residential development, the Commission ruled in favor of the utility whose off-site cost to serve was about \$695,552 less than its competitor. <u>Withlacoochee River Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Florida Power</u>

<u>Corporation</u>, 88 FPSC 6:477, 480 (1988). In a territorial dispute over service to a sand mine, the Commission ruled in favor of the utility whose off-site cost to serve was about \$360,000.00 to \$410,000.00 less than its competitor. <u>Clay Electric Cooperative, Inc. v.</u> Florida Power and Light Company, 88 FPSC 2:85, 87 (1988). A number of other prior territorial disputes demonstrate these dramatic differences in off-site cost to serve. <u>Suwannee Valley Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Florida Power Corporation</u>, 83 FPSC 8:90, 91-92 (1983) (holding that the cost to serve differential was about \$186,000); <u>Talquin Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Town of Havana</u>, 92 FPSC 12:511, 516 (1992) (holding that cost to serve differential was about \$29,324).

On the other hand, in <u>Suwannee Valley Electric Cooperative, Inc. v. Florida</u> <u>Power and Light Company</u>, 92 FPSC 7:170 (1992), that addressed a territorial dispute over service to a motel, the Commission ruled in favor of Suwannee Valley although its cost of service was a mere \$4723.00 less than FP&L's. The Commission did not reach this conclusion based on cost of service alone. <u>Id.</u> at 7:172. It found that despite this small difference in cost, Suwannee Valley was entitled to serve the motel because it was the historic service provider to the area since 1950, well before FP&L established its presence. <u>Id.</u>

Like Suwannee Valley, Gulf Coast has been the historic service provider to the area in dispute since 1951 and had its Red Sapp line on the actual site of the correctional facility. (Norris, T-299/10-15) Gulf Power did not establish its presence in the area for another 21 years in 1971 until it constructed a three-phase line along 279 that crossed Gulf Coast's facilities at least 20 times. (Norris, T-300/17-24) The Commission itself recognized that this construction represented a <u>major</u> duplication of Gulf Coast's facilities. (R-316) Despite

the fact that Gulf Coast's costs to serve are relatively small, that Gulf Coast had historically served the site, and that Gulf Power's presence in the area is based on a major duplication of Gulf Coast's facilities, it nonetheless awarded the site to GPC.

The Commission's resolution of similar territorial disputes have generally addressed situations where the duplication of facilities was at least double the additional off-site cost to serve in the instant case. Despite the fact that <u>Suwannee Valley</u> (1992 case) involved substantially lesser amounts, the central aspect of that holding involved the fact that FP&L intruded into Suwannee Valley's historic service area.

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