IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GULF COAST ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.

Petitioner/Appellant

vs.

Case No.: 85,464

SUSAN F. CLARK, as Chairman FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, and GULF POWER COMPANY

Respondents/Appellees

REPLY BRIEF
OF
GULF COAST ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.
AND ANSWER BRIEF ON
GULF POWER COMPANY'S CROSS APPEAL

John H. Haswell, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 162536 Chandler, Lang & Haswell, P.A. Post Office Box 23879 Gainesville, Florida 32606 (904) 376-5226

J. Patrick Floyd, Esquire 408 Long Avenue Port St. Joe, Florida 32456 (904) 227-7413

Attorneys for Gulf Coast Electric Cooperative, Inc.

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

- 1. Gulf Coast had facilities on the site since 1950.
- 2. GPC constructed a massive duplication of Gulf Coast's facilities in 1971 to serve Sunny Hills, crossing Gulf Coast's lines at least twenty (20) times.
- 3. Gulf Coast had 3 phase service adjacent to the site on State Road 77.

- 4. No matter who served the site, Gulf Coast would have to relocate its lines which were in the way of the Department of Correction facilities in order to continue service to its own customers.
- 5. The facility would not even exist if it were not for the efforts of Gulf Coast in its public support of the project.
- 6. GPC knew Gulf Coast was planning on serving the site and raised no objection until after Gulf Coast spent the money to help Washington County secure the site and relocate its lines.
 - 7. The customer chose Gulf Coast as a service provider.
- 8. GPC's cross appeal clearly states its position that it would not have paid the relocation costs, in which event there would be no correctional facility in Washington County for it or anyone to serve.

The message the Commission leaves is that once a utility gets away with a duplication like GPC's 1971 construction, it can then use those very facilities to claim additional territory and service, even though another utility had onsite service facilities twenty (20) years earlier. Furthermore, the Commission's order clearly sends a message that a utility need not raise an objection to a claimed duplication until after the other utility has done all the ground work to first convince a new industry to locate on the site which it will later dispute and second, after the other utility has spent additional funds to upgrade service to a site that it has historically served.

Unlike prior suits between the parties, this was not a race to

serve - the opposite is true. GPC claims Gulf Coast has unclean hands when in fact no such suggestions, hints, or findings by the Commission supports that claim. Again, the opposite is true. GPC sat back and waited for Gulf Coast to complete its work prior to any objection. The reason is obvious. GPC wanted to serve the site at no cost and at no effort to itself from facilities it built to duplicate Gulf Coast's facilities. The unclean hands are GPC's.

Gulf Coast did not waive any right to relocation costs as GPC claims, but publically made it clear that it would not charge the Department of Correction for the relocation costs if it were chosen as the provider. GPC's argument that the Red Sapp Road is a state or publically owned road is also contrary to the evidence. In the first place, the only evidence is that it was a private road, and even it were claimed by the county as a county maintained road, the facilities of Gulf Coast were not on the right-of-way, and its facilities were not interfering with the use and maintenance of a public road in any event.

Equity, fairness, and the factual findings by the Commission itself dictates service by Gulf Coast. Gulf Coast's argument is not merely an equitable one, but the equities, in addition to the Commission's erroneous conclusions unsupported by competent substantial evidence clearly point to the realization that the Commission gave the disputed site to the wrong utility.

ARGUMENT I

I. THE COMMISSION'S ORDER OF SERVICE TO THE CORRECTIONAL FACILITY BY GPC WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

GPC has attempted to minimize Gulf Coast's appeal by characterizing it as a thinly veiled effort to have this Court reweigh the evidence (GPC's brief pp. 7, 18-19). This is not a case of reweighing or reevaluation of evidence. It involves an appeal of a final order that totally ignores the Commissions own factual and equitable findings that overwhelmingly favored Gulf Coast, and instead concluded GPC should be awarded service to the correctional facility based on an alleged uneconomic duplication of facilities unsupported by substantial and competent evidence, and contrary to fundamental equitable principles.

A. Gulf Coast's construction of 3 phase facilities was in fact economic and necessary.

GPC suggests that the Commission's interpretation of the phrase uneconomic duplication of facilities should be left to the discretion of the Commission and not disturbed by this Court on appeal. (GPC's brief p. 11) What constitutes an uneconomic duplication of facilities has never been defined by the Commission or any Florida court. Contrary to GPC's and the Commission's contentions, the alleged uneconomic duplication of facilities by Gulf Coast was in fact "economic".

The Commission claims that Gulf Coast failed to point to any compelling evidence upon which a finding could be made to support the economic duplication argument (Commission's brief p. 7),

although there is ample evidence to support that conclusion. At the outset it is important to recognize that Gulf Coast's Red Sapp Road line had been located on the actual site of the correctional facility for more than forty (40) years and that Gulf Coast had significant facilities on three sides of the correctional facility site. (R-316) Both Gulf Coast and GPC have facilities on the perimeter of the site of the correctional facility that cross each other or are on opposite sides of County Road 279 and State Road 77. (R-316) The relocation of the Red Sapp Road line was a necessity to continue service to Gulf Coast's customers at the western end of the Red Sapp Road line.

The line was also necessary to continue existing service to the site of the correctional facility where the Red Sapp Road line had been located. On this point GPC has argued that the Court's acceptance of Gulf Coast's economic duplication argument is tantamount to the destruction of utility regulation. (GPC's brief GPC has consistently refused to acknowledge Gulf pp. 14-15) Coast's Red Sapp Road line had been located on the actual site of the correctional facility since 1950 and that its relocation was vital to the continued service to the site. The customer on the very site where Gulf Coast had established its facilities long before GPC ever came along, specifically requested service from Gulf Coast, and the service it needed was 3 phase service. In its own service area, historically served and long established, Gulf Coast, of necessity, upgraded its service capability to 3 phase. The duplication, if it can ever be called that, was necessary and economic both to the interests of the Department of Corrections and to the members of Gulf Coast.

B. The Commission actually found that Gulf Coast's cost to serve was less than Gulf Power's.

GPC and the Commission have made several arguments regarding cost to serve. Although Gulf Coast will defer to its initial brief to avoid redundancy on these issues, one issue deserves additional Recognizing that Gulf Coast incurred the costs of relocating its Red Sapp Road line because of GPC's failure to timely file its territorial dispute with the Commission (discussed at length below) it becomes clear that Gulf Coast was in fact the lower cost provider. The Commission's Order stated that it could not ignore the fact that Gulf Coast's upgrade of the relocated Red Sapp Road Line from single-phase to three-phase duplicated GPC's existing facilities. (R-316)However, the Department of Corrections made it clear that it would not finance the \$36,996.74 for the removal and relocation of the line, hence, it may not have selected Washington County as the site for the new correctional facility. (T-38) The Commission recognized this point when it found that but for Gulf Coast's actions, there would be no facility for anyone to serve.

In light of that statement, had GPC been timely two events would have occurred. First, Gulf Coast would not have moved the Red Sapp Road line. Second, if GPC would have been forced to pay for the removal and relocation of the line at a cost of \$36,996.74 that would represent part of its cost to serve. In contrast, the Commission found that Gulf Coast's cost to serve was a mere

\$14,582.54 for the upgrade of the Red Sapp Road Line from single-phase to three-phase. (T-314-315) A timely objection by GPC would have allowed Gulf Coast to show that its cost to upgrade its facilities would be over \$20,000.00 less than GPC's cost to relocate Gulf Coast's facilities.

Since the Commission relied on the \$14,582.54 as the foundation for its conclusion that Gulf Coast uneconomically duplicated GPC's facilities, it becomes clear that the Commission ignored its own finding that the cost to relocate Gulf Coast's facilities was almost \$37,000.00, a cost Gulf Power would have incurred if it was initially selected as the service provider. While Gulf Coast spent an additional \$14,500.00 to upgrade its pre-existing facilities, Gulf Power would spend over \$36,000.00 to provide the same service capability. GPC should not benefit from its knowing failure to object to Gulf Coast's service.

C. The Commission improperly ignored customer preference in its resolution of the territorial dispute.

In terms of customer preference of electric service providers, Gulf Coast recognizes that who the customer chooses is not a dispositive factor in a territorial dispute, but that it should be considered when all other factors are substantially equal. See Florida Administrative Code Rule 25-6.0441(2)(d). Again, this issue is tied into cost to serve because if the appropriate figure is used, then customer preference is the final nail in GPC's coffin.

Gulf Coast will again defer to its initial brief to avoid redundancy, although GPC's depiction of actual customer preference

and allegedly improper conduct on Gulf Coast's behalf merit brief attention. GPC has stated that the Department of Corrections and not Washington County is the true customer in the instant case. (GPC's brief p. 12-14) GPC has also repeatedly stated that the Department of Corrections did not express a preference for either Gulf Coast or GPC, (GPC's brief p. 12-14) a position directly in conflict with testimony of Ronald Kronenberger, the Department of Corrections' Assistant Secretary for the Office of Management and (T-34/18) When Mr. Kronenberger was asked "[b]ased on Budget. what you have reviewed so far, and, if you had a choice of providers to serve the prison in Washington County, what company would you choose?", he responded, "[w]e would support the decision that we made to go with Gulf Coast." (T-38/8-12) Without question Gulf Coast was the preferred service provider of the Department of Corrections and Washington County and this fact was recognized by (R-315)the Commission.

GPC has also characterized Gulf Coast's rural economic development program as improperly, and now illegally, enticing Washington County to prefer service by Gulf Coast. (GPC's brief p. 12) Yet the Commission found that the Department of Corrections' decision was based on Gulf Coast's ability to serve, the location of its lines, and its patronage capital credit incentives. (R-315) In addition, Mr. Kronenberger testified that Gulf Coast's longer history in the area was another "extenuating circumstance" that favored Gulf Coast. (T-38) Gulf Coast will not deny that its rural development program did not have any effect on customer

preference, although GPC's characterizations that Gulf Coast bought the business of Washington County is a transparent attempt to slander Gulf Coast before this Court (GPC's brief pp. 12, 21), and is rendered meaningless when one considers GPC's own economic development activities and assistance to new business. Apparently GPC believes that its own economic development activities are okay, but not Gulf Coast's, no doubt because Gulf Coast was successful.

D. GPC's duplication of Gulf Coast's facilities in 1971 prior to Commission jurisdiction is material to the determination of this territorial dispute.

The Commission's Final Order recognized that during 1971 GPC constructed a massive duplication of Gulf Coast's three-phase facilities along County Road 279 and State Road 77 that crossed Gulf Coast's lines at least 20 times. (R-316) These are the two roads on the perimeter of the site of the correctional facility. Further, the Commission recognized that GPC crossed Gulf Coast's lines during the pendency of those proceedings to serve a realty company on State Road 77. (R-316) Despite the findings of GPC's prior duplication, the Commission and GPC now attempt to ignore the obvious import of such duplication.

If the Commission's Final Order is upheld by this Court, a message will be sent to all utility companies in Florida. That message suggests that if a utility gets away with the construction of duplicative facilities it can later use those facilities to claim that any upgrade or extension of the other utility's system now duplicates its own facilities. This makes about as much sense as a situation where a landowner builds a boundary fence 100 feet

onto his neighbors land, and when the neighbor claims over the fence to object to its construction, the landowner tries to have him arrested for trespassing.

The Commission and GPC, to a lesser extent, refer to the disadvantages of an uneconomic duplication of (Commission's brief pp. 7-8; GPC's brief pp. 16-17), and the Commission cited a passage from this Court that discusses some specific problems that result from such duplication. (Commission's The effects of unnecessary and uneconomic brief pp. 7-8) duplication of facilities occur whether the duplication was accomplished before or after the Commission had jurisdiction to stop duplication. GPC suggests that the Commission must prohibit "further" uneconomic duplication. (GPC's brief p. 17), while conveniently, it regards past uneconomic duplication as acceptable. It makes no sense for the Commission to take the position of ignoring past duplications when resolving a territorial dispute whose historical basis was caused by a massive duplication by one of the utilities.

In the instant case all of GPC's facilities in the area of the correctional facility are a product of its massive duplication that occurred during 1971 to serve a new development called Sunny Hills. All of the cases cited by GPC to illustrate its presence are the direct result of that duplication. (GPC's brief p. 17) And now GPC is attempting to build on its 1971 duplication, that would not be permitted under the present regulatory scheme, and expand its presence in Gulf Coast's historic service area that was at one time

Gulf Coast's exclusive service area. The fundamental flaw in both GPC's and the Commission's arguments is the mistaken premise that because the Commission had no jurisdiction to stop GPC's 1971 duplication, it should now give those facilities higher weight than those of Gulf Coast.

ARGUMENT II

II. GULF COAST SHOULD BE AWARDED SERVICE OF THE CORRECTIONAL FACILITY BASED ON FUNDAMENTAL ESTOPPEL GROUNDS.

Contrary to the Commission's allegation that Gulf Coast failed to properly raise equitable estoppel in the proceedings below (Commission's brief pp. 15-16), the record is replete with requests for the Commission to exercise its discretionary authority and estop GPC's objection to Gulf Coast's service of the correctional facility. (R-169, 182, 189, 209) Even if the record below did not show that estoppel was raised, Rule 25-22.038 (5)(b)(2), Florida Administrative Code, provides that with good cause shown the Commission will consider any issue that was not raised prior to the issuance of a prehearing order. Although the Commission did not embrace the estoppel argument, the contents of its Final Order implicitly demonstrate that Gulf Coast did not waive the estoppel argument. (R-317)

The Commission cited <u>Phoenix Insurance Co. v. McQueen</u>, 286 So.2d 570 (Fla. 1st DCA 1974) for the proposition that estoppel is an affirmative defense that is waived if it is not pleaded. (Commission's brief p. 16) This proposition is merely a restatement of Rule 25-22.038, cited above, which specifically governs such procedural matters before the Commission.

Although GPC asserted that it could not have filed its complaint against Gulf Coast any sooner because its dispute was not ripe until Gulf Coast allegedly duplicated its facilities, (GPC's brief pp. 20-21), it failed to include any authority that supports the black and white distinction it has drawn with regard to

ripeness in territorial disputes. Quite simply, there is no authority for the proposition that the actual construction of allegedly duplicating facilities is a prerequisite to the filing of a complaint for a territorial dispute. If that proposition were true, then the whole point of authorizing the Commission to prevent uneconomic duplication would be rendered meaningless.

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